SKELETAL MUSCLE AND AGING

Ana Navarro¹, José M^a López-Cepero² and María Jesús Sánchez del Pino³

¹ Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, ² Department of Cell Biology and ³ Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, Faculty of Medicine. University of Cádiz. Plaza Fragela nº 9. 11003-Cádiz. Spain

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 1. Abstract
- 2. Introduction
- 3. Sarcopenia of aging
- 4. Energy intake pattern and muscular aging
- 5. Hormonal factors that influence skeletal muscle
 - 5.1. Growth hormone and insulin-like growth factor I
 - 5.2. Glucocorticoids and muscle protein synthesis
 - 5.3. Testosterone and muscular mass and strength
 - 5.4. Thyroid hormone and phenotypic muscle effects
 - 5.5. Insulin and muscle glucose uptake
- 6. Exercise, structural maintenance of skeletal muscle, and aging

7. Skeletal muscle cell changes associated with aging

- 7.1. Postsinaptic changes, sarcolemmal channel alterations and depolarisation properties
 - 7.2. Altered excitation-contraction coupling and calcium homeostasis
 - 7.3. Age-related mitochondrial changes
 - 7.3.1. Mitochondrial changes and production of oxygen free radicals
 - 7.3.2. Energetic effects of muscle mitochondrial alterations in aging
 - 7.3.3. Secondary effects of mitochondrial free radical production
 - 7.4. Nitric oxide, peroxynitrite and aging
- 8. Skeletal muscle aging modulation by caloric restriction and exercise
- 9. Perspective
- 10. Acknowledgments
- 11. References

1. ABSTRACT

Age-related changes in muscle mass (sarcopenia) and functional properties are the result of a very complex hierarchical system of basic cell aging processes and cell adaptive responses. A basic aging mechanism pertains to mitochondrial production of free radicals and their associated secondary effects. From this basic aging mechanism many other cellular changes can be explained as direct effects or compensatory changes. Altered skeletal muscle cell biochemical and functional properties during aging resulting from intrinsic mechanisms and from changes in hormonal or local signals that influence phenotype maintenance, are reviewed. The effect of skeletal muscle cell senescence on the cellular response to exercise, and the effect of dietary restriction on muscle cell senescence can also be explored from this perspective.

2. INTRODUCTION

Skeletal muscle tissue is developmentally organized as a set of anatomical units, specifically innervated by selected groups of neurons in spinal cord motor columns. Motor units are established through axonal competition for myotubes. Each muscle cell phenotype is highly dependent on the firing pattern of the axon innervating a single muscular end plate in most muscles (1). Fibre types arising from different neural influences can be classified according to their myosin heavy chain expression detected by immunohistochemistry or myofibrillar ATPase (mATPase) activity. Seven fibre types have been described in human muscle on the basis of the pH dependent stability/lability of mATPase activity that can be correlated with the proportion of myosin heavy chain isoforms detected by immunohistochemistry (2).

Muscular differences in fibre architecture, fibre type distribution and motor unit size, reflect enormous variability between anatomically defined skeletal muscles. Each muscle is postnatally remodelled through secondary hypertrophy by loading and daily working schedules. Disuse atrophy, due to reduced movement, immobilization, or unloading during space flight, is rapidly established (within a week) reflecting the strong dependence on a certain level of permanent loading or daily total work for structural maintenance. Muscular senescence is the functional progressive loss of individual muscular groups and is variable between anatomical entities. Many factors account for the progressive loss of muscular mass, strength, endurance and velocity of contraction. The neural factors that contribute to muscle senescence result in a progressive denervation, partially compensated by collateral reinnervation, and hence a reduced motor unit number and increased motor unit size (3,4). Motor axon loss exceeds the fibre number reduction. An inevitable consequence of central nervous tissue neural plasticity is that movement patterns lead to a remodelling of motor control neural circuits resulting in a desynchronisation of recruitment which contributes to neural fatigability or peak strength. Muscular tissue remodelling also includes vascular and connective tissue changes of lesser importance compared to other muscular senescence processes (5).

The gradual and sustained loss of total muscular mass after the peak development in the years that follow adolescence is referred to as sarcopenia. This condition accounts for the reduced strength and endurance of muscular performance (6-8). Interindividual variability, in total muscle mass related to exercise levels, and nonrepaired cumulative effects of minimal lesions resulting from exhaustive exercise or intrinsic aging mechanisms, contribute to wide differences between different muscles in aged individuals.

In neuromuscular senescence, a general trend reflects a set of underlying mechanisms at very different organisational levels. The general mechanisms of aging for long lived cells contribute at several levels, including the mechanotransduction response for structural maintenance; altered response to regulation from systemic factors associated with global effects of aging; and local muscular tissue mechanisms for structural maintenance and cellular biochemical changes within muscle cells. So many factors are involved at so many organization levels, that no simple model can integrate data ranging from biochemical stoichometric changes or dynamic metabolic data at the cellular level, to clinical evidence of reduced or impaired function (neuromuscular senescence). A useful model must relate to the cumulative effects of a particular muscle with cellular impairment or reduced mechanisms of tissue maintenance. A more limited approach is to centre the analysis at the cell level, and to elucidate the changes in cellular mechanisms of skeletal cell phenotype maintenance and their age associated evolution i.e.: the balance between disuse atrophy and adaptive responses to mechanical stress of activity and their historic drift for a selected muscle. A key practical question is: to what extent are the structural and biochemical properties of a muscle sample useful predictors of functional performance levels or clinical disease threshold? Only longitudinal studies, a well controlled muscle history and how it affects skeletal muscle tissue adaptability *versus*. demands over time, can provide a clinically oriented interpretative framework.

An ideal model must consider: a) the basic aging mechanisms for long-lived cells; b) mechanisms underlying muscular cell structural maintenance and c) the interplay between the above and their responses (hypertrophy or disuse atrophy) in aged individuals. A gradual change in the interaction between these factors is presumed. The ageassociated systemic changes in hormonal or general metabolic parameters which can regulate muscular cell phenotype maintenance, functional properties adaptational responses must also be considered. The effects of excessive strength demands (relative to usual level), their repair mechanisms and their cumulative effects over time are difficult to evaluate by their dependence on muscular previous history and because it is difficult to modelize how the stimulus is distributed to the cell population of a muscle. Excessive endurance demands (e.g. exhaustive exercise) also induce local tissue lesions followed by inflammatory and reparative responses, which are influenced by the exercise itself, and by the ageassociated changes in immune system (9-11). Their cumulative effects also affect muscular tissue structure with advancing age. At the cellular level, the subcellular mechanisms of excitation-contraction coupling, contraction and relaxation mechanisms, and their associated biochemical changes in muscular aged cells are related to energetic systems, free radical production and other basic cellular changes associated with aging.

3. SARCOPENIA OF AGING

The age-related decrease in total skeletal muscle mass has been referred to as sarcopenia. This reduction in muscle mass is a direct cause of the age-related decrease in muscle strength and power, i.e.: muscular senescence (8). Other factors in addition to mass reduction contribute to the age-related motor disability, and affect specific groups of muscles, motor units and muscle cell types differently (4,12). The global reduction in muscle mass occurs relative to body mass, and encompasses other changes in body composition, i.e. an increase in fat tissue and reduced fatfree mass, and hence a lower basal metabolic rate in the elderly. The energy expenditure declines by about 15% between the third and eighth decades of life. Such changes are correlated with reduced bone density, insulin sensitivity, and aerobic capacity, but the causal links remain to be elucidated (6). Progressive resistance exercise can produce substantial increases in strength and muscle size, even in the oldest patients (13). In aged patients, exercise protocols are a way to lose fat-mass, improve glucose tolerance, and maintain muscular mass (7,14). The systemic metabolic, physiological and functional secondary effects of sarcopenia and muscular senescence show a great interindividual variability, even between sexes (15), and are not discussed in this review. Statistical variation between human groups is presumed to be dependent on social and nutritional habits, as well as on underlying genetic

differences (16). More epidemiological data, and a complete assessment of the pathophysiologic consequences of sarcopenia, would be necessary to evaluate the environmental factors involved and their public health impact (17). Wasting secondary to an imbalance between reduced caloric intake, appetite disregulation, and energy loss, in spite of reduced physical exercise in the elderly, could also contribute to sarcopenia (18). Weight losses in obese patients have effects on fibre type composition, fibre size, capillarity and succinate dehydrogenase activity, so dietary restriction alone may alter the structural properties of muscular tissue (19).

Sarcopenia of aging is the final result of many changes including: a) progressive denervation with perhaps a reduced ability for collateral reinnervation (1,4,20); b) reduced motor unit number and increased motor unit size (3,4); c) decreased protein synthesis of myofibrillar proteins (21); d) disuse atrophy mechanisms (22); e) altered equilibrium of locally produced growth factors and/or systemic trophic factors for muscular cell phenotype maintenance (23).

Most of the reduction in fibre size in sarcopenia can be explained in terms of their myofibrillar content, as a result of reduced synthesis of myofibrillar proteins with aging (21), although other protein fractions may also be affected. The synthesis of both mitochondrial proteins and myosin heavy chain declines with age, whereas the sarcoplasmic protein pool is unchanged (21,24-26). A reduced synthesis rate of proteins suggests changes in sarcomere protein remodelling that may help explain the loss of skeletal muscle mass and function with aging (27). Resistive exercise produces muscle hypertrophy, and increases mixed muscle and myofibrillar protein synthesis in both young (28-30) and old individuals (28, 31-33).

In spite of reduced myofibrillar content, the hypertrophy mechanisms in aged muscle are possibly limited by the reduced pool of satellite cells, and/or reduced activation and fusion by deficits of local growth paracrine factors (34,35). The regenerative potential of skeletal muscle, and overall muscle mass, declines with age. This regenerative potential may be influenced by autocrine growth factors intrinsic to the muscle itself (36). Extrinsic host factors that may influence muscle regeneration include hormones, and growth factors secreted in a paracrine manner by macrophages (37). Eccentric strength exercise, which involves strong mechanical overload of myofibres, provides a convenient method for studying muscle regeneration in both humans and animal models. An inflammatory response ensues in which distinctive populations of macrophages infiltrate the affected tissue: some of these macrophages are involved in phagocytosis of damaged fibres; other macrophages arriving at later times may deliver growth factors or cytokines that promote regeneration (37). These include fibroblast growth factor, insulin-like growth factor, interleukin-1 and tumour necrosis factor, which are important regulators of muscle precursor cell growth and differentiation (38), as well as nerve growth factor, which is essential for maintenance or re-establishment of neuromuscular synaptic contact. Several cytokines (23), including interleukin-1 and tumour necrosis factor (from mononuclear cells), interleukin-15 (from skeletal muscle itself), and ciliary neurotrophic factor (from Schwann cells), as well as growth hormone and insulin-like growth factor-I (31), have a strong influence on the balance between muscle protein synthesis and breakdown. The functional activity of invading macrophages can be influenced by age, by factors from myofibres (glutamine) (23), influences from extracellular matrix (39), and by the antioxidant status of the host (40).

4. ENERGY INTAKE PATTERN IN AGING

Both a progressive decline in energy intake and a reduction in daily energy needs are associated with aging (41). The decline in energy intake may be less than the ageassociated decline in energy expenditure, resulting in a positive energy balance and gains in fat mass in humans (42), but the inverse situation is also common. Three distinct components constitute the daily energy requirements of muscle of the older individual: the resting energy expenditure, thermogenesis from shivering muscle (43), and exercise (44-47). The resting energy expenditure comprises about 65-70% of the total daily energy expenditure (44-46). Long-term caloric restriction in monkeys causes a long-term reduction in energy expenditure, although motor activity level is maintained (48). Inadequate energy intake can be an important contributor to sarcopenia in older individuals, because negative energy balance induces negative nitrogen balance, independent of nitrogen intake (49).

Intake control is altered and appetite is reduced in older human subjects (50). Changes in hypothalamic neuropeptides associated with appetite regulation (51,52), serotonin metabolites in cerebrospinal fluid (53), and peripheral monocyte cytokine production (IL-6, TNF-[alpha]) (54) have been described. Caloric restriction is the only intervention that appears to slow the intrinsic rate of aging (55) and can markedly prolong the life span (56). The life-extending benefits of caloric restriction depend on the prevention of malnutrition and a reduction in overall caloric intake, rather than any particular nutrient (55,57,58). Some responses to caloric restriction are quite rapid, for example in rats, blood glucose and circulating insulin concentrations are decreased after only five days and three weeks respectively, (59), but the long lasting effects are presumed to be mediated trough respiratory basal changes and will be further discussed.

5. HORMONAL FACTORS THAT INFLUENCE SKELETAL MUSCLE

5.1. Growth hormone and insulin-like growth factor I

Growth hormone (GH) is secreted episodically by the anterior pituitary somatotrophs in response to hypothalamic signals (mainly growth hormone releasing hormone and somatostatin), and is modulated by several signals from the periphery, including insulin-like growth factor I (IGF-I), thyroid hormones, glucocorticoids, and gonadal steroids (60). A sexually dimorphic pattern of GH secretion in aged humans has been suggested, and could be partly responsible for sexually dimorphic muscle mass. In rodents, there is a significantly higher mean 24 hour serum GH concentration in females, compared with males (61). The number and amplitude of growth hormone secretory bursts declines with aging (62). Growth hormone stimulates the production and secretion of IGF-I (somatomedin C) by several tissues ("somatomedin hypothesis") (63). Circulating IGF-I levels also decline with ageing, as a consequence of reduced GH secretion. IGF-I concentration in the seventh decade of life is approximately half of that in the third decade (64). The functional consequences for muscle of the age-related decline in growth hormone secretion and IGF-I levels remain unclear. In a recent review the therapeutic role of recombinant human GH was analysed (65) and beneficial anabolic effects of IGF-I in elderly humans have been suggested (66). In addition, GH retards muscle damage due to immobilization in older rats (67). Preliminary results of GH treatment in the normal elderly suggest beneficial effects on body composition, but with a high incidence of side effects. Long term administration of GH on muscle mass, myofibrillar protein synthesis (31), or strength associated with resistance training in older individuals (68,69), does not seems to be beneficial. IGF-I administration increased whole body protein synthesis and breakdown by the same amount (66). Other reports with GHRH treatment detected a net increase in muscle mass and bioenergetics that reduced anaerobic metabolism during exercise in elderly individuals (70). hrGH therapy in conjunction with resistance exercise does not increase muscle mass or strength in aged patients (71). Questions of cost, benefit, dosage, safety and tolerance need to be critically addressed before GH can be considered for sarcopenia treatment in the aging (72). It is possible that the effect of GH and IGF-I on aged skeletal muscle depends on other hormones that decline with aging.

5.2. Glucocorticoids and muscle protein synthesis

The glucocorticoids may play an important role in muscle atrophy in old age. Glucocorticoids have catabolic effects, reducing protein synthesis and stimulating protein degradation in skeletal muscle (73,74). Recently, the cellular mechanisms and proteolytic pathways involved in the catabolic effects of glucocorticoids have been revised (75). The effects of glucocorticoid treatment on muscle protein balance were compared in adult and old rats. The results showed that muscle wasting occurred more rapidly in old rats, and the recovery of muscle mass was impaired (76). Protein turnover in muscle cells is differentially affected by glucocorticoid treatment, with adult rats showing an increased protein breakdown and muscle atrophy following dexamethasone treatment. Ubiquitination and proteasomal activity were increased and cathepsin B expression upregulated. Aged rats showed a reduced protein synthesis response. Biochemical events downstream from the glucocorticoid receptor regulated promoters differs in adult and aged muscle cells, and mRNA expression and/or translational changes lead to different effects on protein turnover (75,77). Glutamine synthetase (also regulated by glucocorticoids receptors) is expressed equally in adult and old rats (78). A decrease in nitrogen balance is induced more slowly in old rats, but this effect is more pronounced and long lasting. Glutamine homeostasis is impaired in aged rats (79). Muscle cell types have specific gene transcription responses to dexamethasone treatment; white fast-twitch muscle of aged rats is resistant to inhibition of protein synthesis by glucocorticoids (80). Integrated responses of several growth factor signals are also changed by corticoids in aged muscle cells. Increased protein synthesis induced by insulin and IGF-I is depressed by dexamethasone to a greater degree in aged rats. Glucocorticoid effects on protein turnover (by regulation of synthesis or breakdown) are more pronounced in old muscle cells, by neutralizing anabolic signals, or by a more profound and long lasting effect on the ubiquitin proteasome pathway of myofibrillar protein degradation.

5.3. Testosterone and muscular mass and strength

Serum testosterone concentrations decline in older men. The age-dependent decline in androgens may contribute to concomitant changes in body composition i.e. a lower percentage of muscle mass and an increase and redistribution of body fat (81-83). Many studies have focused on the use of testosterone to reduce age-associated sarcopenia in men (84). When testosterone was administered to older men for 12 months, it was found to significantly increase handgrip strength (85). In the lower extremitis (quadriceps and hamstring), testosterone administration in older men increased muscle strength after only 1 month of treatment (86). In addition, the supraphysiological replacement of testosterone in young eugonadal men has also been shown to increase muscle mass and improve strength (87). On the other hand in young patients, testosterone administration preserves protein balance, but not muscle strength, during 28 days of bed rest (88). Testosterone has been used in postmenopausal women to improve muscle strength (89). There is no evidence that the increase in muscle strength resulting from testosterone administration could be mediated by the conversion of testosterone to estradiol (90,91). Testosterone increases muscle protein synthesis, intramuscular mRNA concentrations of IGF-I, and decreases the concentration of the inhibitory IGF binding protein 4. This indicates a stimulation of the intramuscular IGF-I system during testosterone administration (86,92).

With regard to body composition, no significant changes were found in weight or fat mass after 3 (93) or 12 (85) months supplementation treatment with parenteral testosterone. However, an increase in weight has been found, caused by an increase in fat free mass (94). Some age-related differences in body composition due to androgen decline, such as nutritional status and lipoproteins, are not influenced by androgen supplementation in older men (95).

5.4. Thyroid Hormone and phenotypic muscle effects

Thyroid hormone (T3) acts on nuclear receptor proteins which, in skeletal muscle cells, regulate the gene expression of myofibrillar protein isoforms (96). Other nuclear receptors for oestrogen and androgen can also interact with thyroid hormone receptors on the same promoter of (alpha) MyHC isoform (97). This isoform is expressed during fast to slow MyHC transitions in experimental models (98). During aging, the circulating T3 levels are decreased (99), and the age associated fibre type shift from fast to slow is attributable, at least partly, to this change (100). The ratio of myosin light chain isoforms MLC1Sa/MLC1Sb is increased during ageing and, after thyroid hormone treatment, has some effect on contraction velocity of type 1 (slow) fibres, although the effect of aging and thyroid hormone treatment on the myosin light chains ratio is supposed to be mediated through a different pathway (101).

5.5. Insulin and muscle glucose uptake

The dependence of skeletal muscle on insulin for glucose uptake is well established. A well-known observation of aging is the development of impaired glucose tolerance, which begins in the third or fourth decade of life and progresses thereafter (102). However, elderly individuals typically have normal or slightly elevated serum insulin levels (103). In isolated perfused pancreas or isolated islets of Langerhans from rats, agerelated changes in insulin secretion in response to glucose have not been observed (104,105). However, isolated perfused pancreas from aged rats show a reduced insulin release in response to low, but not high, concentrations of glucose (106). In isolated perfused pancreas from aged rats, somatostatin induced a greater inhibition of glucosestimulated insulin release than seen in young animals (107). An age-dependent decrease in islet insulin, but not glucagon or somatostatin mRNA levels has been reported (108). The senescent pancreas has an impaired insulin response to glucose (109), but other factors contribute more to the impaired glucose tolerance observed in the elderly (110). One of these factors is that insulinmediated skeletal muscle cell glucose uptake declines with advancing age (111,112). IGF-I enhances glucose uptake in rodent skeletal muscle by stimulation of its own receptor (113,114) and this effect is also reduced in adult rats (115). In humans, decreased plasma levels of IGF-I precedes insulin resistance (116), although the skeletal tissue contribution is not established. Triglyceride accumulation in skeletal muscle cells, and membrane phospholipid composition, has been suggested to increase insulin resistance (117,118). Also, insulin induces NOdependent vasodilatation in the vascular bed of skeletal muscle, which is reduced in aging, and has been proposed to contribute to insulin resistance (119,120). Insulin stimulation induces the translocation from their intracellular compartment to the cell surface of Glu-T4 (adipose/muscle type glucose transporter) (121). Chronic exercise increased both IGF-I production and IGF-I receptor, as well as Glu-T4 content, even in old animals (122) and man (123,124). It has been reported that Glu-T4 concentration does not increase in old Fisher-344 rats (125). Differences in exercise protocols are relevant in explaining these discrepant results. Glu-T4 protein content is decreased in aged rats, attributable to a diminished translational efficiency, since Glu-T4 mRNA level is maintained (126). Insulin resistance of muscle cells is attributed to impaired translocation of intracellular Glu-T4 to the sarcolemma (127). A general deficit of translocation of proteins to surface membranes in aged animals has not been reported.

6. EXERCISE, STRUCTURAL MAINTENANCE OF SKELETAL MUSCLE, AND AGING

Mammalian skeletal muscle is well suited for intermittent bouts of activity and develops and maintains its structure by mechanotransduction pathways that influence the skeletal muscle cell phenotype modulation and the hypertrophy level. Disuse atrophy is one of the most important and rapidly establishing contributors to sarcopenia of aging (7,17). Progressive resistance exercises and strength training can produce substantial increases in strength and muscle size, even in the oldest cases. For many older patients, exercise represents the safest, least expensive means to lose body fat, decrease blood pressure, improve glucose tolerance, and maintain long-term independence (14,128). Types of strength exercise (eccentric or concentric) daily schedule and duration differ widely in published studies and are not reviewed here. The general consensus is that whilst clinical effects are beneficial, cellular mechanisms of muscle structural and functional restoration have not been completely analysed (129). Individual variability in total muscle mass and body composition, history of their muscle-skeletal system, energetic balance effects of the type of exercise and intrinsic ability of muscle to hypertrophy have not been analysed as separate factors. The chronic cumulative and secondary effects of exercise on muscle senescence are presumed to derive from incomplete reparation after very intense bouts of exercise, or an age-related decline in reparative muscle mechanisms.

7. SKELETAL MUSCLE CELL CHANGES ASSOCIATED WITH AGING

7.1. Postsynaptic changes, sarcolemma channel alterations and depolarisation properties

The end plate postsynaptic action potential corresponds to the opening of membrane voltage-dependent sodium channels (130-132). These channels belong to a large multigene family of closely related isoforms (133). The molecular structure and function, and the role that abnormal sodium channels play in human disease, are well known (134,135). The expression of the adult phenotype isoforms requires the interaction of muscle fibres with active motor neurons (136-138). Modification of sodium channel gating can modify sarcolemma excitability and, as a consequence, can alter contractile properties of skeletal muscle (139). Extrajunctional sarcolemma of aged-rat fibres presents a higher sodium current density than that of young-rat fibres, which results from the presence of a higher number of available channels per membrane area (140). Aged-rat fibres can be discriminated on the basis of channel conductance. Some present a conductance of 18 pS as in young-adult rats and others exhibit a conductance of 9 pS, while ensemble average currents activate and inactivate more slowly. Biophysical properties, such as open probability, mean open time, steady-state inactivation and use-dependent inhibition are very similar in both fibres and the differences are not due to dennervation (139). Chronic treatment of aged rats with either GH or hexarelin restored current kinetics, but not channel conductance and density. These results confirm the specific age-related changes in

sodium channel behaviour, and show that treatment with either GH or hexarelin has partial restorative effects (141).

In rat fast-twitch muscle fibres, the enhanced activation of protein kinase C that occurs during aging leads to reduction of macroscopic chloride conductance (142,143). Chronic treatment of aged rats with GH improves the macroscopic chloride conductance and sarcolemma excitability of skeletal muscle (144). This effect is mimicked in vitro by IGF-1, which suggests that this peptide is the mediator of GH at the muscular level in its effect on chloride channels (145). In the short term, the peptide may stimulate a serine-threonine phosphatase, that is able to counteract the enhanced age-related activation of protein kinase C, increasing the chloride conductance (145). Furthermore, IGF-1 may induce the neosynthesis of chloride channels in the long term (145). These results show that the skeletal muscle chloride channel is a target of impairment of the GH/IGF-I axis occurring in aged subjects (145). Taurine induces an increase of the resting membrane chloride conductance, and it has been suggested that a reduction of taurine content could play a role in the alteration of electrical and contractile properties observed during aging (146). The levels of mRNA encoding the principal skeletal muscle chloride channel (ClC-1) provide evidence that the decrease of resting membrane chloride conductance observed during aging is associated with a downregulation of ClC-1 expression in muscle (147).

The properties of ATP-sensitive potassium channels are modified by age-related redox potential change (148). The activity of calcium-activated potassium channels increases with advancing age (149). The result is an increase of the macroscopic potassium conductance (143,149).

7.2. Altered excitation-contraction coupling and calcium homeostasis

Contraction of skeletal muscle is activated by calcium released from the sarcoplasmic reticulum (SR), in response to depolarisation of the sarcolemma propagated via the transverse T tubules. The depolarisation is detected by voltage sensors (dihydropyridine receptors) in the T tubule membrane, and the signal is transmitted to sarcoplasmic reticulum calcium release channels (ryanodine receptors) at triad junctions between T tubules and sarcoplasmic reticulum release terminals. Transmission of this signal takes place by a mechanical or allosteric interaction between the dihydropyridine receptors and ryanodine receptors (150-152). It has been accepted that calcium-induced calcium release (153,154) also plays a significant role in skeletal excitation-contraction coupling (155,156). This progress in the understanding of function has taken place in parallel with the increasingly precise definition of the junction structure (157). In particular, the alternation of release channels, in apparent contact with dihydropyridine receptors and others channels devoid of this interaction, has suggested that two kinetic phases are present in the waveform of calcium release flux under voltage clamp, and that these correspond to the existence of two different control mechanisms (155,158,159). The type 3 ryanodine receptor (RyR3) is a ubiquitous calcium

release channel that has recently been found in mammalian skeletal muscles. It is codistributed with the skeletal muscle isoform (RyR1) and the dihydropyridine receptor. Highly expressed during development, only some fibres of several phenotypes maintain their expression in adulthood. No age-related changes have been reported for this last receptor (160).

In aged skeletal muscle the calcium-sequestering activity of sarcoplasmic reticulum may be altered but the phosphorylation-dependent regulation and mechanisms of reduced calcium uptake remain controversial (161-163). Perhaps a modulation of RyR1 by the SR luminal protein calsequestrin, or the coupling of RyRs by FKBP-12, may be altered in ageing skeletal muscle (163,164). Impairment of excitation-contraction coupling could be due to a decrease in dihydropyridine receptors (142,163,165). Dihydropyridine-sensitive calcium currents are reduced in skeletal muscle fibres of aged humans and mice (165,166). The final effect is a significant reduction of the amount of calcium available for triggering mechanical responses in aged skeletal muscle and, the reduced calcium release is due to dihydropyridine receptor-ryanodine receptor uncoupling in fast-twitch fibres (165,167). Caloric restriction in rats can prevent the reduced expression of dihydropyridine and ryanodine receptors associated with aging (168).

The calcium ATPase of the sarcoplasmic reticulum for calcium uptake and muscle relaxation has been extensively studied in aged rats with no consistent results. It has been suggested that changes in the tertiary structures (169), more rapid inactivation of the protein *in vitro* during mild heat treatment (170), and a reduction in calcium uptake rate of SR-enriched membrane vesicles isolated from slow-twitch (but not fast-twitch) muscles, that nevertheless exhibit a similar amount of calcium ATPase protein to the young rats (171). Partial uncoupling of ATP hydrolysis from calcium transport could explain the slower relaxation of slow-twitch muscle in aging. Resistance training in humans can partially reverse the reduced SR calcium uptake (172).

Age-related effects in contractile mechanisms beyond calcium release and uptake have not been described. The efficiency of the sliding mechanism, secondary alterations of myofibrillar proteins, or metabolic enzymes of energetic pathways of skeletal muscle cells could, theoretically, limit the contractile properties and/or fatigue resistance. Only very limited and isolated data are available. Nevertheless a basic aging mechanism for longlived cells is alterations to the mitochondria that induce both energetic and free radicals secondary effects which could mediate all the previously cited changes.

7.3 Age-related mitochondrial changes

7.3.1. Mitochondrial changes and production of oxygen free radicals

The mitochondrial pool of skeletal muscle cells is subject to the same deteriorating trends of aging as the neuronal and other long-lived cells. The regulation of the mitochondrial population and their age-associated changes are less known that the functional respiratory changes associated with muscular senescence. The electron transport chain is the major intracellular source of reactive oxygen free radicals species (ROS), which are generated as byproducts during the transfer of electrons from NADH or FADH, through the electron transport chain components to molecular oxygen, even under normal physiological conditions, where they may play a role in intracellular signalling (173).

The univalent reduction of oxygen that takes place in mammalian tissues produces superoxide radicals (O_2) at a rate of about 2% of the total oxygen uptake Membranes isolated from mitochondria. (174).endoplasmic reticulum and plasma membrane in many organs have been recognized as able to catalyse the univalent reduction of oxygen to O_2^{-1} (175). Hydrogen peroxide is generated both as the product of O_2^{-1} dismutation, as it is the case for mitochondrial O_2^{-} and H_2 O₂ generation, and as the product of two electrons transfer from flavin enzymes to the oxygen molecule. In mammalian cells, most of the H₂O₂-producing enzymes are located in the peroxisomes (175,176). These two products of the partial reduction of oxygen, O_2^- and H_2O_2 , are able in aerobic systems to co-react, to initiate a chain reaction of oxvradicals formation, including hydroxyl and peroxyl radicals, and singlet oxygen (175,177).

Regarding oxyradical production, it is convenient to first consider the mitochondrial production of O_2^- and H_2O_2 , since mitochondria in skeletal muscle cells appear as the quantitatively more important (and possibly unique) source of O_2^- and H_2O_2 (178). The consideration of the physiological rate of the mitochondrial production of $O_2^$ and H_2O_2 must be preceded by the estimation of the metabolic state of the mitochondrial population in the different types of skeletal muscle cells, under different physiological respiratory conditions. Each mitochondrial respiratory state has a typical rate of O_2^- and $H_2O_2^$ production (179,180). This evaluation is very difficult to achieve because of fibre type heterogeneity, aerobic dependence and the wide difference between basal and maximal rate of muscle oxygen consumption.

The resting mitochondrial state 4 has a relatively high rate of O_2^- and H_2O_2 production, due to the highlyreduced state of the components of the respiratory chain, at level of flavin semiquinone of the NADH dehydrogenase and ubisemiquinone, that by autooxidation yield O_2^- . Ob the contrary, the active mitochondrial state 3 with a high rate of oxygen uptake shows a relatively slow rate of $O_2^$ and H_2O_2 production, due to the highly oxidized states of the components of the mitochondrial respiratory chain. In the anoxic state 5, with no availability of oxygen, there is no respiration and hence no partial reduction of oxygen to O_2^- or H_2O_2 (175,179,180).

In the liver and heart and in physiological conditions, most of the mitochondria are in the resting state 4 (178), and the active respiration yielding ATP is supported by a limited subset of the mitochondrial population of a cell. Mitochondrial respiratory functions

decline with age in human liver and skeletal muscle cells. Both the respiratory control and oxidative phosphorylation efficiency of the mitochondria are decreased in an agedependent manner (181,182).

7.3.2. Energetic effects of muscle mitochondria alterations in aging

The concept of a decreased capacity of energy production in aged organs or aged individuals is immediately associated with the decreased basal metabolic rate observed by Rubner in 1883 (183). The changes in body composition that occur with age and an about constant energy expenditure in vital organs and tissues in adult humans apparently account for a constant basal metabolic rate when taking in consideration organ energy expenditure (183,184). The contribution of muscle to basal metabolic rate is related to the percentage of blood flow derived through the tissue and the proportion of mitochondria in resting and controlled state 4 compared to the active state 3 at the maximal physiological rate of oxygen uptake and energy production (178). However, state 4 respiration has been reported to be increased in mitochondria isolated from aged mice, which would indicate a partial uncoupling in aged mitochondria (185). Uncoupling proteins UCP2, and UCP3 which is expressed only in skeletal muscle, could provide a mechanism for "mild" uncoupling that reduces ROS production by the respiratory chain (186), and their role in muscle aging remains to be explored. Muscle contraction would recruit mitochondria to state 3 until an adequate ATP production rate is established. A hypothesis is that aging could diminish the proportion of recruitment because of the elevated number of damaged and inefficient mitochondria. In fact, there is a decrease in maximal energy production, and a reduced proportion of mitochondria in active state 3 of respiration, in liver and heart mitochondria isolated from senescence-accelerated mice (187). This could represent a metabolic ceiling for energetic production also in skeletal muscle cells, even with an adequate supply of oxygen. The combination of decreased state 3 respiration and increased production of O_2^{-} and H_2O_2 seems to be associated with aging for most organs studied (188).

7.3.3. Secondary effects of mitochondrial free radical production

A widely discussed theory of cellular aging, outlined by Szilard (189) and Orgel (190), considers the process in terms of the accumulation of molecular damage and informational errors at the DNA and RNA level. This damage has special traits in skeletal muscle cells because their high protein myofibrillar content, the turnover f which is possibly limited by architectural sarcomere restraints, and by the multinucleate character of skeletal muscle cells and incorporation of reserve satellite cells that, in addition to nuclear DNA repair mechanisms, could compensate genetic deficits from one nucleus. The damage may well be produced by some of the reactive oxygen species, such as HO and ROO. These species are certainly able to abstract hydrogen from the purinic and pyrimidinic bases of nucleic acids, as is singlet molecular oxygen, which are also able to react with DNA and RNA bases yielding addition products. Although most of the damage produced by the reactive

oxygen species is dealt with by the specialized systems of DNA repair, it is accepted that random alterations may accumulate via the oxidative damage to mitochondrial and nuclear DNA which is known to occur in vivo (191,192). Mitochondrial aging (193,194) is influenced by the mitochondrial steady state production of O_2^{-} and H_2O_2 , the chemical species that produce cumulative and non repairable damage to mtDNA (195-197).

Reactive oxygen species modify most kinds of macromolecules, including unsaturated lipids, proteins and DNA (198-200). Antioxidant systems can eliminate many of these radicals, but this is not fully efficient. Greatest free radical damage is expected to occur near the sites of oxygen radical generation, since the most reactive radicals (particularly OH⁻) can not diffuse away, and react non specifically (in nanoseconds) with almost any nearby molecules (178,201). Thus skeletal muscle mitochondria are most affected by sustained free radical production, damaging enzymatic and electron transfer complexes and mtDNA. This creates an inability to be recruited to state 3, resulting in a more intense radical production creating a positive feed back loop of mitochondrial damage (201-203).

Based on the limited data, specific for aged skeletal muscle tissue, several biochemical indicators of oxidative stress have been found to be increased, although some results are controversial. Thus lipofuscine accumulates (204); lipid peroxidation is increased (205-207) or not modified (208,209); total glutathione (GSH) content is increased (210), oxidized glutathione (GSSG) levels are also increased (206), and mitochondrial GSH/GSSG ratio are elevated (211). Discrepancies in glutathione status can be explained if the timing of secondary adaptation of glutathione pool to oxidative stress is considered. Antioxidant enzymes activities are increased (212) as a cellular adaptive response to oxidative stress, the most significant being total superoxide dismutase activity (cytoplasmic Cu-Zn SOD and mitochondrial Mn-SOD) (208,209). However in aged human muscle, total superoxide dismutase (SOD) activity decreased with age, although mitochondrial superoxide dismutase activity is increased, perhaps as an adaptive response of mitochondria to oxidative stress, and coincident with a lower expression of cytoplasmic SOD. No alterations in glutathione peroxidase or catalase activities were reported (206) suggesting a secondary importance. State 3 respiration rate and electron transport system activities are very much lower in aged muscle cells (182,213-215). Multiple mtDNA deletions and mutations, and total content of modified bases (8-OH desoxiguanosine) have been described from the mtDNA fraction in aged skeletal muscle of animals and humans (216,217).

7.4. Nitric oxide, peroxynitrite and aging

A second pathway that could mediate some of the biochemical changes in mitochondria and skeletal muscle cells during aging is the formation of peroxynitrite derived from the interaction of nitric oxide (NO) and superoxide radicals (218). Nitric oxide has low direct toxicity; the major mechanism of injury associated with nitric oxide in

vivo most likely results from the diffusion-limited reaction with superoxide to form peroxynitrite (219). Nitric oxide also reacts with ubiquinol in a redox reaction (220,221), with cytochrome oxidase in competition for oxygen (222), and oxymyoglobin and oxyhemoglobin (223), displacing oxygen (224). Since peroxynitrite does not contain unpaired electron it is not a free radical. The half-life of peroxynitrite is less than 1 sec., which enables it to diffuse over considerable distances and exert biological effects (225). The production of NO in skeletal muscle cells is mediated by the so called neural isoform of nitric oxide synthase (nNOS), which is expressed in both slow and fast muscle fibres at birth, but rapidly increases in fast muscle due to motor activity (226). The sarcolemmal localization of nNOS at force transmitting sites, associated to dystrophin and dependent on it for expression (227), suggests a role in mechanotransduction signalling elicited by muscular tension with the expression upregulated by mechanical loading (228). The age-related increased levels indicate perhaps a secondary response to altered mechanotransduction pathways in aging (227). Other reports indicate that nNOS activity and the percentage of nNOS positive fibres are reduced in all muscle types with age (229).

Mitochondrial production of nitric oxide by a mitochondrial isoform of nitric-oxide synthase (mtNOS) isolated from rat liver (230) and also present in muscle mitochondria (A Boveris, personal communication) seems to have local mitochondrial effects on Fe-S centers of metalloproteins (231), particularly cytochrome oxidase which is competitively inhibited by NO (223). The NO production rate is dependent on the metabolic state of mitochondria and their NADPH levels (223) one of their effects on oxidative phosphorylation being to increase free radical leakage from respiratory complexes (223), and also the final ATP synthesis rate. In spite of these primary effects and their influence on contractility, blood flow and glucose metabolism, NO decays by ubiquinol oxidation and peroxynitrite formation (221). The peroxynitrite production rate competes with superoxide dismutase for superoxide anion (224). Short-time range toxicity effects of peroxynitrite leads to release of creatine kinase, a marker of muscle injury, and this effect is more intense in old animals that show an increased susceptibility to NO toxicity (232). Both basic age-related production of mitochondrial derived superoxide and peroxynitrite constitute a primary event that could explain the widespread metabolic, signalling and even regulatory genetic changes described during skeletal muscle cell aging.

8. SKELETAL MUSCLE AGING MODULATION BY CALORIC RESTRICTION AND EXERCISE

In monkeys, preliminary data suggest that the physiological changes in response to caloric restriction are similar to those in rodents (233,234). Rubner (235) postulated an inverse relation between metabolic rate (usually expressed as oxygen consumption per unit of lean body mass) and life span. Some experimental studies confirmed this postulated relation, and these findings formed the basis of Pearl's "rate of living" theory of aging (236). More recently, metabolic rate has been linked to the rate of production of partially reduced oxygen species, (237,238) which are normal byproducts of oxygen metabolism (175). Caloric restriction attenuates oxidative damage and the associated decline in mitochondrial function (238), with reduced steady-state concentrations of the products of oxidative damage to proteins, DNA, and lipids (185,239). In mice, most of the age-associated increase in oxidative damage to DNA occurs in postmitotic tissues such as skeletal muscle, with most of the attenuation of oxidative damage by caloric restriction also occurring in these tissues (239).

Growing evidence indicates that free radicals play an important role in exercise-related damage in skeletal muscle (211,240-247). However, there are fewer data on exercise-related free radical production in aged skeletal muscle, and the results are discrepant (59,208,209,248). It is important to consider that the data relating to free radical production and antioxidant defences in aged skeletal muscle after exercise, are dependent on the type, intensity and duration of exercise protocol (208). In general, however, such data seem to support the theory of an age threshold in exercise, as proposed by Reznick (249).

9. PERSPECTIVE

When considering the structural and functional changes that define muscle senescence phenotype, it is important to consider the chronological and hierarchical organization of events and processes that lead to the phenotypic modulation and reduced efficiency of senescent skeletal muscle cells. One approach is to extrapolate the consequences of the most basic and well known aging mechanisms common to all cells. Such a basic mechanism for the deterioration of long-lived somatic cells is the cumulative, non repaired damage resulting from free radical production which elicit adaptive responses of the antioxidant systems. The progressive imbalance leads to an internal cell state defined as oxidative stress. A first level of impact of this basic endogenous and cumulative mechanism of molecular damage is the mitochondrion itself, whose lipid peroxidation levels are increased, with presumed effects on membrane fluidity and functional properties. Effects on mitochondrial matrix metabolic pathways may diminish the reductive capacity, that in conjunction with the internal membrane alterations and selective inhibition of key points in oxidative phosphorylation chain leads to a reduced rate of ATP synthesis. The energetic crisis of skeletal muscle under the demands of exercise has a lower threshold, not only by the reduced efficacy of mitochondria, but also by the decreased number of recruited mitochondria in the active state 3. Mitochondrial DNA damage leads to a mosaicism in mitochondrial population in many tissues, and increases the risk of activation of programmed cell death by apoptosis. This is not the case in skeletal muscle cells where the multinucleate character does not permit the typical morphological changes of apoptosis of mononuclear cells, where the increased probability of entering apoptosis secondary to mitochondrial alterations is easily detected.

The proposed mechanism for age-associated changes in cellular metabolic pathways based on the direct effect of free radical species derived from mitochondrial superoxide, and perhaps other internal sources (that in skeletal muscle cells could include aconitase or xantine oxidase) during aging, or reduced antioxidant activities, in aged cells. This second level corresponds to a "metabolic stress" that the cell could meet through protein repair, protein degradation mechanisms or upregulating deficitary enzymes of metabolic pathways.

It would be useful to consider specially the possible effects of this basic aging process on myofibrillar or sarcomere proteins (or their turnover) and hence the sliding efficiency mechanism, over excitation-contraction coupling mechanisms, or even on the integration network of signalling pathways from the surface membrane in response to synaptic, paracrine or hormonal signals. Many of the stoichometric changes in the components of the signal-transduction and signal-integration systems could be considered adaptive responses from the gene regulation level, to maintain the functional effects of these in response to hormonal local signals, even if they were not altered in the aged organisms.

There are some data that indicate a direct effect on basic translational machinery at the ribosomal level, and it is suspected that there may be interference with the mixture of the pool of transcription factors that maintains the pattern of genetic expression for phenotype maintenance in skeletal muscle cells. Techniques that will permit monitoring of the global pattern of gene expression inside a single cell will confirm the above.

This scenario at the cell level can then be related to the effects on the ability of muscle cells to adequately transduce the signals that normally permit the hypertrophy response, which may be less altered in aged muscle than expected. At the tissue level, the senescent muscle cells could adopt an altered pattern of intercellular biochemical communication, by reduced signal production, or inadequate transduction or effector response, and their effect on tissue architectural changes could be explored.

Until such a basic and well established biochemical mechanism of aging at the cellular level as free radical induce cumulative damage, is fully explored in terms of direct molecular consequences *versus* the compensatory homeostatic intracellular mechanisms, it is not necessary to postulate other primary events which may underlie the hierarchy of cascade events accumulated in long-lived senescent cells

10. ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This study was supported by grants from Programa de Promoción de la Investigación en Salud del Ministerio de Sanidad y Consumo para Proyectos de Investigación del Fondo de Investigación Sanitaria (BOE 3-06-98; expediente 99/1033), Spain.

11. REFERENCES

1. Gundersen, K.: Determination of muscle contractile properties: The importance of the nerve. *Acta Physiol Scand.* 162, 333-341 (1998)

2. Staron, R. S.: Human skeletal muscle fiber types: delineation, development, and distribution. *Can.J.Appl.Physiol* 22, 307-327 (1997)

3. Larsson, L.: Is the motor unit uniform? *Acta Physiol Scand.* 144, 143-154 (1992)

4. Larsson, L.: The age-related motor disability: underlying mechanisms in skeletal muscle at the motor unit, cellular and molecular level. *Acta Physiol Scand.* 163, S27-S29 (1998)

5. Hill, A: First and last experiments in muscle mechanics, Cambrich University Press, London (1970)

6. Evans, W. J.: What is sarcopenia? J.Gerontol.A Biol.Sci.Med.Sci. 50 Spec No, 5-8 (1995)

7. Dutta, C.: Significance of sarcopenia in the elderly. *J.Nutr.* 127, 992S-993S (1997)

8. Kostka, T.: [Sarcopenia: definition and clinical implications]. *Pol.Merkuriusz.Lek.* 6, 89-91 (1999)

9. De la Fuente, M., M. Ferrandez, J. Miquel & A. Hernanz.: Changes with aging and physical exercise in ascorbic acid content and proliferative response of murine lymphocytes. *Mech.Ageing Dev.* 65, 177-186 (1992)

10. Mazzeo, R.: The influence of exercise and aging on immune fuction. *Med. & Sci. Sports & Exerc.* 26, 586-592 (1994)

11. Shephard, R. & P. Sheck.: Exercise, aging and immune function. *Int.J.Sports Med.* 16, 1-6 (1995)

12. Larsson, L: Ageing in mammalian skeletal muscles. In: The aging motor systems. Advances in neurogerontology. Vol 3. Mortimer, J, Pirozzolo, F, Maletta, G, Praeger, New York (1982)

13. Larson, E. & R. Bruce.: Health benefits of exercise in an aging society. *Arch Intern Med* 147, 353-356 (1987)

14. Evans, W. J.: Reversing sarcopenia: how weight training can build strength and vitality. *Geriatrics* 51, 46-3 (1996)

15. Baumgartner, R. N., K. M. Koehler, D. Gallagher, L. Romero, S. B. Heymsfield, R. R. Ross, P. J. Garry & R. D. Lindeman.: Epidemiology of sarcopenia among the elderly in New Mexico [published erratum appears in Am J Epidemiol 1999 Jun 15;149(12):1161]. *Am.J.Epidemiol.* 147, 755-763 (1998)

16. Collins, K.: Physiological variation and adaptability in human populations. *Ann.Hum.Biol.* 26, 19-38 (1999)

17. Dutta, C. & E. C. Hadley.: The significance of sarcopenia in old age. *J.Gerontol.A Biol.Sci.Med.Sci.* 50 Spec No, 1-4 (1995)

18. Evans, W. J., R. Roubenoff & A. Shevitz.: Exercise and the treatment of wasting: aging and human immunodeficiency virus infection. *Semin.Oncol.* 25, 112-122 (1998)

19. Kern, P., R. Simsolo & M. Fournier.: Effect of weight loss on muscle fiber type, fiber size, capillarity and succinate dehydrogenase activity in humans. *J.Clin.Endocrinol.Metab* 84, 4185-4190 (1999)

20. Luff, A. R.: Age-associated changes in the innervation of muscle fibers and changes in the mechanical properties of motor units. *Ann.N.Y.Acad.Sci.* 854, 92-101 (1998)

21. Balagopal, P., O. E. Rooyackers, D. B. Adey, P. A. Ades & K. S. Nair.: Effects of aging on in vivo synthesis of skeletal muscle myosin heavy- chain and sarcoplasmic protein in humans. *Am.J.Physiol* 273, E790-E800 (1997)

22. Frontera, W. R., V. A. Hughes, R. A. Fielding, M. A. Fiatarone, W. J. Evans & R. Roubenoff.: Aging of skeletal muscle: a 12-yr longitudinal study. *J.Appl.Physiol* 88, 1321-1326 (2000)

23. Cannon, J. G.: Intrinsic and extrinsic factors in muscle aging. *Ann.N.Y.Acad.Sci.* 854, 72-77 (1998)

24. Rooyackers, O. E., D. B. Adey, P. A. Ades & K. S. Nair.: Effect of age on in vivo rates of mitochondrial protein synthesis in human skeletal muscle. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A* 93, 15364-15369 (1996)

25. Welle, S., C. Thornton, Jozefowicz R & Statt M.: Myofibrilar protein synthesis in young and old men. *Am.J.Physiol* 264, E693-E698 (1993)

26. Short, K. R., R. Barazzoni & Nair KS.: Age effects on mitochondrial protein synthesis rate in rate skeletal muscle, liver and heart. *FASEB J.* 13, A909 (1999)

27. Short, K. R.: The effect of age on protein metabolism. *Current Opinion Clin. Nutr. & Metab. Care* 3, 39-44 (2000)

28. Yarasheski, K. E., J. J. Zachwieja & Bier DM.: Acute effects of resistance exercise on muscle protein synthesis rate in young and elderly men and women. *Am.J.Physiol* 265, E210-E214 (1993)

29. Biolo G, S. Maggi, Williams BD, Tipton KD & R. R. Wolfe.: Increased rates of muscle protein turnover and aminoacid transport after resistance exeercise in human. *Am.J.Physiol* 268, E514-E520 (1995)

30. Phillips, S., K. Tipton, A. Aarsland, S. Wolf, R. R. Wolfe & o.: Mixed muscle protein synthesis and breakdown after resistance exercise in human. *Am.J.Physiol* 273, E99-E107 (1997)

31. Welle, S.: Growth hormone and insulin-like growth factor-I as anabolic agents. *Current Opinion Clin. Nutr. & Metab. Care* 1, 257-262 (1998)

32. Welle, S., K. Bhatt & C. A. Thornton.: Inventory of high-abundance mRNAs in skeletal muscle of normal men. *Genome Res.* 9, 506 -513 (1999)

33. Yarasheski, K. E., Pak-Loduca J, Hasten DL, Obert KA, Brown MB & D. R. Sinacore.: Resistance exercise training increased mixed muscle protein synthesis rate in frile women and men 76 yr old. *Am.J.Physiol* 277, E118-E125 (1999)

34. Grounds, M. D.: Age-associated changes in the response of skeletal muscle cells to exercise and regeneration. *Ann.N.Y.Acad.Sci.* 854, 78-91 (1998)

35. Wanek, L. J. & M. H. Snow.: Activity-induced fiber regeneration in rat soleus muscle. *Anat.Rec.* 258, 176-185 (2000)

36. Nash, A., J. Kurek & D. Hilton.: Cytokines: from the laboratory to the clinic. *Drug.Dev.Res* 46, 197-205 (1999)

37. Lescaudron, L., E. Peltekian, J. Fontaine-Perus, D. Paulin, M. Zampieri & L. Garcia.: Blood borne macrophages are essential for the triggering of muscle regenation following muscle transplant. *Neuromuscul.Disord.* 9, 72-80 (1999)

38. Florini, J, D. Ewton & F. Maioli.: Hormones, growth factors, and myogenic differentation. *Annu.Rev.Physiol.* 53, 201-216 (1991)

39. Brandan, E. & J. J. Larsen.: Heparan sulfate proteoglycans during terminal skeletal muscle cell differentiation: possible functions and regulations of their expression. *Basic Appl.Myol.* 8, 107-113 (1998)

40. Cannon, JG: Intrinsic and Extrinsic Factors in Muscle Aging.[Towards prolongation of the healthy life span: Practical approaches to intervention. Part I. Exercise and aging]. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*. 854, 72-77 (1998)

41. Kendrick, Z. V., S. Nelson-Steen & K. Scafidi.: Exercise, agimg, and nutrition. *South.Med.J.* 87, S50-S59 (1994)

42. Vaughan, J., F. Zurlo & E. Ravussin.: Aging and energy expediture. *Am.J.Clin.Nutr.* 53, 821-825 (1991)

43. Florez-Duquet, M. & R. B. McDonald.: Cold-induced thermoregulation and biological aging. *Physiol Rev.* 78, 339-358 (1998)

44. Poehlman, E. T. & E. S. Horton.: Regulation of energy expenditure in aging humans. *Ann.Rev.Nutr.* 10, 255-275 (1990)

45. Owen, O. E., E. Kavie & R. S. Owen.: A reappraisal of caloric requirements in healthy woman. *Am.J.Clin.Nutr.* 44, 1-19 (1986)

46. Owen, O. E., F. L. Holup & D. A. e. a. Alessio.: A reappraisal of the caloric requirements of men. *Am.J.Clin.Nutr.* 46, 875-885 (1987)

47. Kendrich, Z. V., C. K. McPeek & K. F. Young.: Prediction of the resting energy expenditure of women following 12 to 18 weeks of very-low-caloric-dieting. *Ann.Sports Med.* 5, 118-123 (1990)

48. DeLany, J. P., B. C. Hansen, N. L. Bodkin, J. Hannah & G. A. Bray.: Long-term calorie restriction reduces energy expenditure in aging monkeys. *J.Gerontol.A Biol.Sci.Med.Sci.* 54, B5-11 (1999)

49. Roberts, S. B.: Effects of aging on energy requirements and the control of food intake in men. *J.Gerontol.A Biol.Sci.Med.Sci.* 50 Spec No, 101-106 (1995)

50. Marcus, E. L.: Refusal to eat in the elderly. *Nutrition Reviews* 56, 163-171 (1998)

51. Martinez, M., F. Arnalich & A. Hernanz.: Alterations of anorectic cytokine levels from plasma and cerebrospinal fluid in idiopathic senile anorexia. *Mech.Ageing Dev.* 72, 145-153 (1993)

52. Martinez, M., A. Hernanz & J E. A. Gómez-Cerezo.: Alterations in plasma and cerebrospinal fluid levels of neuropepetides in idiopathic senile anorexia. *Regul.Pep.* 49, 109-117 (1993)

53. Martinez, M., F. Arnalich, J. J. Vazquez & A. Hernanz.: Altered cerebrospinal fluid amino acid pattern in the anorexia of aging: relationship with biogenic amine metabolism. *Life Sci.* 53, 1643-1650 (1993)

54. Arnalich, F., A. Hernanz, J. J. Vazquez & A. Amores.: Cell-mediated immune response and cytokine production in idiopathic senile anorexia. *Mech.Ageing Dev.* 77, 67-74 (1994)

55. Weindruch, R. & R. L. Walford.: The retardation of aging and disease by dietary restriction. Thomas, Charles C.(1988)

56. Weindruch, R.: Seminars in Medicine of the Beth Israel Deaconess Medical Center: Caloric Intake and Aging. *New England Journal of Medicine* 337, 986-994 (1997)

57. Fishbein, L.: Biological effects of dietary restriction. Springer-Verlag. New York (1991) 58. Yu, B P: Modulation of aging processes by dietary restriction. Boca Raton, Fla, CRC Press (1994)

59. Cartee, G. D. & D. J. Dean.: Glucose transport with brief dietary restriction: heterogenous responses in muscles. *Am.J.Physiol* 266, E946- E952 (1994)

60. Casanueva, F. F.: Physiology of growth hormone secretion and action. *Endo.Metab.Clin.North Am.* 21, 483-517 (1992)

61. Hindmarsh, P. C., E. Dennison, S. M. Pincus, C. Cooper, C. H. D. Fall, D. R. Mathews, P. J. Pringle & C. G. D. Brook.: A sexualy dimorphic pattern of growth hormone secretion in the elderly. *J.Clin.Endocrinol.Metab* 84, 2679-2685 (1999)

62. Zadik, Z., S. A. Chalew & R. J. J. McCarter.: The influence of age on the 24 hour integrated concentration of the growth hormone in normal individuals. *J.Clin.Endocrinol.Metab* 60, 513-516 (1985)

63. Bondy, C. A.: Clinical uses of insulin-like growth factor I. Ann. Intern. Med. 120, 593-601 (1994)

64. Corpas, E., S. M. Harman & M. R. Blackman.: Human growth hormone and human aging. *Endocr.Rev.* 14, 20-39 (1993)

65. Tritos, N. A. M.: Recombinant Human Growth Hormone: Old and Novel Uses.[Review]. *American Journal of Medicine* 105, 44-57 (1998)

66. Thompson, M. C., G. E. Butterfield & R. Marcus.: The effects of rhIGF-I and growth hormone on body composition in elderly women. *J.Clin.Endocrinol.Metab* 80, 1845-1852 (1995)

67. Fares, F. A., N. Gruener, E. Carmeli & A. Z. Reznick.: Growth hormone (GH) retardation of muscle damage due to immobilization in old rats. Possible intervention with a new long-acting recombinant GH. *Ann.N.Y.Acad.Sci.* 786, 430-443 (1996)

68. Zachwieja, J. J. & K. E. Yarasheski.: Does growth hormone therapy in conjunction with resistance exercise increase muscle force production and muscle mass in men and women aged 60 years or older? *Phys.Ther.* 79, 76-82 (1999)

69. Taaffe, D. R., I. H. Jin, T. H. Vu, A. R. Hoffman & R. Marcus.: Lack of effect of recombinant human growth hormone (GH) on muscle morphology and GH-insulin-like growth factor expression in resistance- trained elderly men. *J.Clin.Endocrinol.Metab* 81, 421-425 (1996)

70. Vittone, J., M. R. Blackman, J. Busby-Whitehead, C. Tsiao, K. J. Stewart, J. Tobin, T. Stevens, M. F. Bellantoni, M. A. Rogers, G. Baumann, J. Roth, S. M. Harman & R. G. Spencer.: Effects of single nightly injections of growth

hormone-releasing hormone (GHRH 1-29) in healthy elderly men. *Metabolism* 46, 89-96 (1997)

71. Zachwieja, J. J. & K. E. Yarasheski.: Does growth hormone therapy in conjunction with resistance exercise increase muscle force production and muscle mass in men and women aged 60 years or older? *Phys.Ther.* 79, 76-82 (1999)

72. Ho, K. K. & D. M. Hoffman.: Aging and growth hormone. *Horm.Res.* 40, 80-86 (1993)

73. Odedra, B. R., P. C. Bates & D. J. Millward.: Time course of the effect of catabolic doses of corticosterone on protein turnover in rats skeletal muscle and liver. *Biochem.J.* 214, 617-627 (1983)

74. Kayali, A. G., V. R. Young & M. N. Goodman.: Sensitivity of miofibrillar proteins to glucocorticoid-induced muscle proteolysis. *Am.J.Physiol* 252, E621-626 (1987)

75. Hasselgren, P. O.: Glucocorticoids and muscle catabolism. *Curr.Opin.Clin.Nutr.Metab Care* 2, 201-205 (1999)

76. Dardevet, D., C. Sornet, D. Taillandier, I. Savary, D. Attaix & J. Grizard.: Sensitivity and protein turnover response to glucocorticoids are different in skeletal muscle from adult and old rats. Lack of regulation of the ubiquitin-proteasome proteolytic pathway in aging. *J.Clin.Invest* 96, 2113-2119 (1995)

77. Wang, L., G. L. Luo, J. J. Wang & P. O. Hasselgren.: Dexamethasone stimulates proteasome-and calcium-dependent proteolysis in cultured L& myotubes. *Shock* 10, 298-306 (1998)

78. Meynial-Denis, D., M. Mignon, A. Miri, J. Imbert, E. Aurousseau, D. Taillandier, D. Attaix, M. Arnal & J. Grizard.: Glutamine synthetase induction by glucocorticoids is preserved in skeletal muscle of aged rats. *Am.J.Physiol* 271, E1061-E1066 (1996)

79. Minet-Quinard, R., C. Moinard, F. Villie, S. Walrand, M. P. Vasson, J. Chopineau & L. Cynober.: Kinetic impairment of nitrogen and muscle glutamine metabolisms in old glucocorticoid-treated rats. *Am.J.Physiol* 276, E558-E564 (1999)

80. Savary, I., E. Debras, D. Dardevet, C. Sornet, P. Capitan & J. e. al. Prugnaud.: Effect of glucocorticoids excess on skeletal muscle and heart protein synthesis in adult and old rats. *Br.J.Nutr.* 79, 297-304 (1998)

81. Baumgartner, R. N., P. M. Stauber, D. McHugh, K. M. Koehler & P. J. Garry.: Cross-sectional age differences in body composition in persons 60+ years of age. *J.Gerontol.A Biol.Sci.Med.Sci.* 50, M307-M316 (1995)

82. Delp, M. D., M. V. Evans & C. Duan.: Effects of aging on cardiac output, regional blood flow, and body

composition in Fischer-344 rats. J.Appl.Physiol 85, 1813-1822 (1998)

83. Pietrobelli, A.: Techniques used in measuring human body composition.[Article]. *Current Opinion in Clinical Nutrition & Metabolic Care* 1, 439-448 (1998)

84. Tenover, J. S.: Androgen replacement therapy to reverse and/or prevent age-associated sarcopenia in men. *Baillieres Clin.Endocrinol.Metab* 12, 419-425 (1998)

85. Sih, R., J. E. Morley, F. E. Kaiser, H. M. I. Perry, P. Patrick & C. Ross.: Testosterone replacement in older hypogonadalmen: a 12-month randomized controlled trial. *J.Clin.Endocrinol.Metab* 82, 1661-1667 (1997)

86. Urban, R. J., Y. H. Bodenburg, C. Gilkison, J. Foxworth, A. R. Coggan, R. R. Wolfe & A. Ferrando.: Testosterone administration to elderly men increases skeletal muscle strength and protein synthesis. *Am.J.Physiol* 269, E820-E826 (1995)

87. Bhasin, S., T. W. Storer & N. e. a. Berman.: The effects of supraphysiologic doses of testosterone on muscle size and strenght in normal men. *New Engl J.of Med.* 334, 1-7 (1996)

88. Zachwieja, J. J., S. R. Smith, J. C. Lovejoy, J. C. Rood, M. M. Windhauser & G. A. Bray.: Testosterone administration preserves protein balance but not muscle strength during 28 days of bed rest. *J.Clin.Endocrinol.Metab* 84, 207-212 (1999)

89. Davis, S. R. & H. G. Burger.: Androgens and the postmenopausal woman. *J.Clin.Endocrinol.Metab* 81, 2759-2763 (1996)

90. Bassey, E. J.: Oestrogen: no evidence that it increases muscle strenght. *Med.Sci.Res.* 25, 795-800 (1997)

91. Mauras, N.: Estrogens do not affect whole-body protein metabolism in the prepubertal female. *J.Clin.Endocrinol.Metab* 80, 2842-2845 (1995)

92. Urban, R. J.: Effects of testosterone and growth hormone on muscle function.[Report]. *Journal of Laboratory & Clinical Medicine* 134, 7-10 (1999)

93. Morley, J. E., H. M. Perry, F. E. Kaiser, et al & al.: Effects of testosterone replacement therapy in old hypogonadal males: A preliminary study. *J.Am.Geriatr.Soc.* 41, 149-152 (1993)

94. Tenover, J. S.: Effects of testosterone supplementation in the aging male. *J.Clin.Endocrinol.Metab* 75, 1092-1098 (1992)

95. Denti, L. M., G. M. Pasolini, L. M. Sanfelici, R. M. Benedetti, A. M. Cecchetti, G. P. M. Ceda, F. P. Ablondi & G. M. Valenti.: Aging-Related Decline of Gonadal

Function in Healthy Men: Correlation with Body Composition and Lipoproteins.[Article]. Journal of the American Geriatrics Society 48, 51-58 (2000)

96. Yu, F., H. Degens & L. Larsson.: The influence of thyroid hormone on myosin isoform composition and shortening velocity of single skeletal muscle fibres with special reference to ageing and gender. *Acta Physiol Scand.* 167, 313-316 (1999)

97. D'Albis, A. & G. S. Butler-Browne.: The hormonal control of myosin isoform expression in skeletal muscle of mammals: A review. *BAM* 3, 7-16 (1993)

98. Hämäläinen, N. & D. Pette.: The expression of an [alpha] cardiac-like myosin heavy chain in diaphragm, chronically stimulated, and denervated fast-twich muscles of rabbit. *J Muscle Res Cell Mot* 18, 401-411 (1997)

99. Yu, F., H. Degens, X. Li & L. Larsson.: Gender-and age-related differences in the regulatory influence of thyroid hormone on the contractility and myosin composition of single rat soleus muscle fibers. *Pflugers Arch.* 437, 21-30 (1998)

100. Sonntag, W. E.: Hormone secretion and action in aging animals. *Rev. Biol. Res Aging* 3, 299-335 (1987)

101. Biral, D., F. Ballarin, I. Toscano, G. Salviati, F. Yu, L. Larsson & R. Betto.: Gender- and thyroid hormonerelated transitions of essential myosin light chain isoform expression in rat soleus muscle during ageing. *Acta Physiol Scand.* 167, 317-323 (1999)

102. Anon.: Insulin resistance in the elderly. *Nurt.Rev.* 49, 257-258 (1991)

103. Davison, M. B.: The effect of aging on carbohydrate metabolism. *Metabolism* 28, 688-705 (1979)

104. Hara, S. L., R. C. Rube, D. L. Curry & R. B. McDonald.: Dietary sucrose enhances insulin secretion of aging Fischer 344 rats. *Am.Inst.Nutr.* 122, 2196-2203 (1992)

105. Starnes, J. W., E. Cheong & F. M. Matschinsky.: Hormone secretion by isolated perfused pancreas of aging Fischer 344 rats. *Am.J.Physiol* 260, E59-E66 (1991)

106. Elahi, D., D. C. Muller, D. K. Anderson, J. D. Tobin & R. Andres.: The effect of age and glucose concentration on insulin secretion by the isolated perfused rat pancreas. *Endocrinology* 116, 11-16 (1985)

107. Casad, R. D. & R. C. Adelman.: Aging enhances inhibitory action of somatostatin in rat pancreas. *Endocrinology* 130, 2420-2422 (1992)

108. Perfetti, R., J. M. Egan, M. E. Zenilman & A. R. Shuldiner.: Expression of the regenerating gene in the pancreas of aging mice. *Transplant.Proc.* 26, 733-(1994)

109. Majumdar, A. P. N.: Effect of Aging on the Gastrointestinal Tract and the Pancreas (44120).[Review]. *Proceedings of the Society for Experimental Biology & Medicine* 215, 134-144 (1997)

110. Broughton, D. L., O. F. W. James & K. G. M. M. Alberti.: Peripheral and hepatic sensitivity in elderly healthy subjects. *Eur.J.Clin.Invest* 21, 13-21 (1991)

111. Paolisso, G., A. Scheen & P. Lefebvre.: Glucose handling, diabetes and ageing. *Horm.Res* 43, 52-57 (1995)

112. Ferrannini, E., S. Vichi & H. Beck-Nielsen.: Insulin sensitivity and age. *Diabetes* 45, 947-956 (1996)

113. Dohm, G., W. Elton & M. Raju.: IGF-1 stimulated glucose transport in human skeletal muscle and IGF-1 resistance in obesity and NIDDM. *Diabetes* 39, 1028-1032 (1990)

114. Dimitriadis, G., M. Parry-Billings & S. Bevan.: Effect of insulin-like growth factor I on the rates of glucose transport and utilization in rats skeletal muscle in vitro. *Biochem.J* 285, 269-274 (1992)

115. Dardevet, V., C. Sornet & D. Attaix.: Insulin-like growth factor-1 and insulin resistance in skeletal muscles of adult and old rats. *Endocrinology* 134, 1475-1484 (1994)

116. Paolisso, G., M. Tagliamonte, M. Rizzo, C. Carella, A. Gambardella, M. Barbieri & M. Varricchio.: Low plasma Insuli-like Growth Factor-I concentrations predict worsening of Insulin-mediated glucose uptake in older people. *J Amm Geriatr Soc* 47, 1312-1318 (1999)

117. Pan, D., S. Lillioja & A. Kriketos.: Skeletal muscle triglyceride levels are inversely related to insulin action. *Diabetes* 46, 983-988 (1997)

118. Goodpaster, B. & D. Kelley.: Role of muscle in triglyceride metabolism. *Curr Opin Lipidol* 9, 231-236 (1998)

119. Baron, A. & M. Clark.: Role of blood flow in the regulation of muscle glucose uptake. *Annu.Rev Nutr* 17, 487-499 (1997)

120. Rattigan, S.: Acute Vasoconstriction-Induced Insulin Resistance in Rat Muscle In Vivo.[Article]. *Diabetes* 48, 564-569 (1999)

121. Zhou, M., L. Sevilla, G. Vallega, P. Chen, M. Palacin, A. Zorzano, P. Pilch & K. Kandror.: Insulindependent protein trafficking in skeletal muscle cells. *Am.J Physiol.* 275, E187-E196 (1998)

122. Willis, P., S. Chadan, V. Baracos & W. Parkhouse.: Restoration of insulin-like growth factor I action in skeletal muscle of old mice. *Am.J Physiol.* 275, E525-E530 (1998) 123. Dela, F., T. Ploug, A. Handberg, L. Peterson, J. Larsen, K. Mikines & H. Galbo.: Physical trining increases muscle GLUT4 protein and mRNA in patients with NIDDM. *Diabetes* 43, 862-865 (1994)

124. Cox, J. H., R. N. Cortright, G. L. Dohm & J. A. Houmard.: Effect of aging on response to exercise training in humans: skeletal muscle GLUT-4 and insulin sensitivity. *J.Appl.Physiol* 86, 2019-2025 (1999)

125. Kern, M., P. Dolan, R. Mazzeo, J. Wells & G. Dohm.: Effect of aging and exercise on GLUT-4 glucose transporters in muscle. *Am.J Physiol.* 263, E362-E367 (1992)

126. Lin, J., T. Asano, Y. Shibasaki, K. Tsukuda, H. Katagiri, H. Ishihara, F. Takaku & Y. Oka .: Altered expression of glucose trasporter isoforms with aging in rats-selective decrease in GluT4 in the fat tissue and skeletal muscle. *Diabetologia* 34, 477-482 (1991)

127. Garvey, W., L. Maianu, J. Zhu, G. Brechtel-Hook, P. Wallace & A. Baron .: Evidence for deffects in the trafficking and translocation of GLUT4 glucose transporters in skeletal muscle as a cause of human insulin resistance. *J Clin Invest* 101, 2377-2386 (1998)

128. Foster-Burns, S. B.: Sarcopenia and decreased muscle strength in the elderly woman: resistance training as a safe and effective intervention. *J.Women Aging* 11, 75-85 (1999)

129. Alway, S. E., A. R. Coggan, M. S. Sproul, A. M. Abduljalil & P. M. Robitaille.: Muscle torque in young and older untrained and endurance-trained men. *J.Gerontol.A Biol.Sci.Med.Sci.* 51, B195-B201 (1996)

130. Adrian, R. H., W. K. Chandler & A. L. Hodgkin.: Voltage clamp experiments in striated muscle fibers. *J.Physiol.* 208, 607-644 (1970)

131. Hodgkin, A. L. & A. F. Huxley.: The components of membrane conductance in the giant axonof Loligo. *J.Physiol.* 116, 473-496 (1952)

132. Hille, B.: Ionic Channels of Excitable Membranes. Sinauer Associates Inc. Suderland MA (1984)

133. Barchi, R. L.: Sodium channel diversity: subtle variations on a complex theme. *Trends Neurosci.* 10, 221-223 (1987)

134. Barchi, R. L.: Molecular pathology of the skeletal muscle sodium channel. *Annu.Rev.Physiol.* 57, 355-385 (1995)

135. Cannon, S. C.: From mutation to myotonia in sodium channel disorders. *Neuromuscul.Disord.* 7, 241-249 (1997)

136. Bambrick, L. L. & T. Gordon.: Neural regulation of [³H]-sexitoxin binding site numbers in rat neonatal muscle. *J.Physiol.* 407, 263-274 (1988)

137. Pappone, P. A.: Voltage-clamp experiments in normal and denervated mmamalian skeletal muscle fibers. *J.Physiol.* 306, 377-410 (1980)

138. Yang, J. S., J. T. Sladky, R. G. Kallen & R. L. Barchi.: TTX-sensitive and TTX-insensitive sodium channel mRNA transcripts are independently regulated in adult skeletal-muscle after denervation. *Neuron.* 7, 421-427 (1991)

139. Desaphy, J. F., A. De Luca, P. Imbrici & C. D. Conte.: Modification by ageing of the tetrodotoxinsensitive sodium channels in rat skeletal muscle fibres. *Biochim.Biophys.Acta* 1373, 37-46 (1998)

140. Desaphy, J. F., A. De Luca & C. D. Conte.: Comparison of Na+ channels on native skeletal muscle fibers from young-adult and aged rat. *Biophys.J.* 72, A362-(1997)

141. Desaphy, J. F., A. De Luca, S. Pierno, P. Imbrici & D. C. Camerino.: Partial recovery of skeletal muscle sodium channel properties in aged rats chronically treated with growth hormone or the GH-secretagogue hexarelin. *J.Pharmacol.Exp.Ther.* 286, 903-912 (1998)

142. De Luca, A., V. Tortorella & C. D. Conte.: Chloride channels of skeletal muscle from developing, adult and aged rats are differently affected by enantiomers of 2-(p-chlorophenoxy) propionic acid. *Naunyn-Schmiedeberg`s Arch.Pharmacol.* 346, 601-606 (1992)

143. De Luca, A., D. Tricarico, S. Pierno & C. D. Conte.: Aging and chloride channel regulation in rat fast-twitch muscle fibers. *Pflugers Arch.* 427, 80-85 (1994)

144. De Luca, A., S. Pierno, D. Cocchi & C. D. Conte.: Growth hormone administration to aged rats improves membrane electrical properties of skeletal muscle fibers. *J.Pharmacol.Exp.Ther.* 269, 948-953 (1994)

145. De Luca, A., S. Pierno, D. Cocchi & C. D. Conte.: Effects of chronic growth hormone treatment in aged rats on the biophysical and pharmacological properties of skeletal muscle chloride channels. *Br.J.Pharmacol.* 121, 369-374 (1997)

146. Pierno, S., A. De Luca, C. Camerino, R. J. Huxtable & D. C. Camerino.: Chronic administration of taurine to aged rats improves the electrical and contractile properties of skeletal muscle fibers. *J.Pharmacol.Exp.Ther.* 286, 1183-1190 (1998)

147. Pierno, S., A. De Luca, C. L. Beck, A. L. George, Jr. & C. D. Conte.: Aging-associated down-regulation of ClC-1 expression in skeletal muscle: phenotypic-

independent relation to the decrease of chloride conductance. *FEBS Lett.* 449, 12-16 (1999)

148. Tricarico, D. & C. D. Conte.: ATP-sensitive K+ channels of skeletal muscle fibers from young-adult and aged rats: Possible involvement of thiol-dependent redox mechanisms in the age-related modifications of their biophysical and pharmacological properties. *Mol.Pharmacol.* 46, 754-776 (1994)

149. Tricarico, D., R. Petruzzi & D. C. Camerino.: Changes of the biophysical properties of calcium-activated potassium channels of rat skeletal muscle fibres during aging. *Pflugers Arch.* 434, 822-829 (1997)

150. Schneider, M. & W. Chandler.: Voltage dependent charge movement in skeletal muscle: A possible step in excitation-contraction coupling. *Nature* 242, 244-246 (1973)

151. Ríos, E., M. Karhanek, J. Ma & A. Gonzalez.: An allosteric model of the molecular interaction of excitation-contraction coupling in skeletal muscle. *J.Gen.Physiol.* 102, 449-482 (1993)

152. Nakai, N., Y. Shimomura, N. Ohsaki, J. Sato, Y. Oshida, I. Ohsawa, N. Fujitsuka & Y. Sato.: Exercise training prevents maturation-induced decrease in insulin sensitivity. *J.Appl.Physiol* 80, 1963-1967 (1996)

153. Endo, M., M. Tanaka & Y. Ogawa.: Calcium induced release of calcium from the sarcoplasmic reticulum of skinned skeletal muscle fibres. *Nature* 228, 34-36 (1970)

154. Ford, L. & R. Podolski.: Regenerative calcium release within muscle cells. *Science* 167, 58-59 (1970)

155. Ríos, E. & G. Pizarro.: Voltage sensors and calcium channels of excitation-contraction coupling. *News Physiol.Sci.* 3, 223-227 (1988)

156. Sial, S., A. R. Coggan, R. Carroll, J. Goodwin & S. Klein.: Fat and carbohydrate metabolism during exercise in elderly and young subjects [see comments]. *Am.J.Physiol* 271, E983-E989 (1996)

157. Franzini-Armstrong, C.: Ryanodine receptors of striated muscles: A complex channel capable of multiple interactions. *Physiol.Rev.* 77, 699-729 (1997)

158. Shirokova, N. & E. Rio.: Activation of calcium release by caffeine and voltage in frog skeletal muscle. *J.Physiol.(Camb)* 493, 317-339 (1996)

159. Stern, M., G. Pizarro & E. Rios.: Local control model of excitation-contraction coupling in skeletal muscle. *J.Gen.Physiol.* 110, 415-440 (1997)

160. Flucher, B. E., A. Conti, H. Takeshima & V. Sorrentino.: Type 3 and type 1 ryanodine receptors are

localized in triads of the same mammalian skeletal muscle fibers. *J.Cell Biol.* 146, 621-630 (1999)

161. De Coster, W., J. De Reuck, G. Sieben & H. Van der Eecken.: Early ultrastructural changes in aging rat gastrocnemius muscle: A stereologic study. *Muscle Nerve* 4, 111-116 (1981)

162. Carlsen, R. C. & D. A. Walsh.: Decrease in force potentiation and appearance of -adrenergic mediated contracture in aging rat skeletal muscle. *Pflugers Arch.* 408, 224-230 (1987)

163. Margreth, A., E. Damiani & E. Bortoloso.: Sarcoplasmic reticulum in aged skeletal muscle. *Acta Physiol Scand.* 167, 331-338 (1999)

164. Larsson, L. & G. Salviati.: Effects of age on calcium transport activity of sarcoplasmic reticulum in fastand slow-twitch rat muscle fibers. *J.Physiol.* 419, 253-264 (1989)

165. Delbono, O., K. S. O'Rourke & W. H. Ettinger.: Excitation-calcium release uncoupling in aged single human skeletal muscle fibers. *J.Membr.Biol.* 148, 211-222 (1995)

166. Renganathan, M., M. L. Messi & O. Delbono.: Dihydropyridine receptor-ryanodine receptor uncoupling in aged skeletal muscle. *J.Membr.Biol.* 157, 247-253 (1997)

167. Damiani, E., L. Larsson & A. Margreth.: Agerelated abnormalities in regulation of the ryanodine receptor in rat fast-twitch muscle. *Cell Calcium* 19, 15-27 (1996)

168. Mayhew, M., M. Renganathan & O. Delbono.: Effectiveness of caloric restriction in preventing age-related changes in rat skeletal muscle. *Biochem.Biophys.Res.Commun.* 251, 95-99 (1998)

169. Chen, B., T. E. Jones & D. J. Bigelow.: The nucleotide-binding site of the sarcoplasmic reticulum Ca-ATPase is conformationally altered in aged skeletal muscle. *Biochemistry* 38, 14887-14896 (1999)

170. Ferrington, D. A., T. E. Jones, Z. Qin, M. Miller-Schlyer, T. C. Squier & D. J. Bigelow.: Decreased conformational stability of the sarcoplasmic reticulum Ca-ATPase in aged skeletal muscle. *Biochim.Biophys.Acta* 1330, 233-247 (1997)

171. Narayanan, N., D. L. Jones, A. Xu & J. C. Yu.: Effects of aging on sarcoplasmic reticulum function and contraction duration in skeletal muscles of the rat. *Am.J.Physiol* 271, C1032-C1040 (1996)

172. Hunter, S. K., M. W. Thompson, P. A. Ruell, A. R. Harmer, J. M. Thom, T. H. Gwinn & R. D. Adams.: Human skeletal sarcoplasmic reticulum Ca2+ uptake and muscle

function with aging and strength training. *J.Appl.Physiol* 86, 1858-1865 (1999)

173. Cadenas, E, J Poderoso, & A Boveris: Mitochondrial oxidative stress. A self propagating process with implications for signaling cascades. In: VI Reunion del Grupo Español de Radicales Libres y II Reunion Iberoamericana. Eds: Navarro, A, Sanchez del Pino, M, Serv. Pub. Univ. Cadiz, Spain, Cadiz, Spain (2000)

174. Boveris, A. & B. Chance.: The mitochondrial generation of hydrogen peroxide. General properties and effect of hyperbaric oxygen. *Biochem J* 134, 707-716 (1973)

175. Chance, B., H. Sies & A. Boveris.: Hydroperoxide metabolism in mammalian organs. *Physiol Rev.* 59, 527-605 (1979)

176. Singh,I: Mammalian peroxisomes: antioxidant enzymes and oxidative stress. In: The Oxygen Paradox. Eds: Davies, K , Ursini, F , CLEUP University Press , Padova (1995)

177. Fridovich, I.: Superoxide dismutases. Ann Rev Biochem 44, 147-159 (1975)

178. Boveris, A, L E Costa, & E Cadenas: The mitochondrial production of oxygen radicals and cellular aging. In: Understanding the process of aging: the roles of mitochondria, free radicals, and antioxidants (Antioxidants in health and disease, 8). Eds: Cadenas, E, Packer, L, Marcel Dekker, New York (1999)

179. Boveris, A. & B. Chance.: The mitochondrial generation of hydrogen peroxide. *Biochem J* 134, 707-716 (1973)

180. Boveris, A & Cadenas E: Production of superoxide radicals and hydrogen peroxide in mitochondria. In: Superoxide dismutase. Eds: Oberley L , CRC Press , Boca Raton (1982)

181. Yen TC, Chen YS, King KL, Yeh SH & Y. H. Wei.: Liver mitochondrial respiratory functions declines with age. *Biochem.Biophys.Res.Commun.* 165, 994-1003 (1989)

182. Trounce, I., E. Byrne & Marzuki S.: Decline in skeletal muscle mitochondrial respiraory chain function: possible factor in ageing. *Lancet i*637-639 (1989)

183. McCarter RJM: Energy utilization. In: Hand book of Physiology 11: Aging. Eds: Masoro EJ, Oxford University Press, Oxford (1995)

184. Elia M: Organ and tissue contribution to metabolic rate. In: Energy metabolism. Eds: Kinney JM, Tucker HN, Raven Press, New York (1991)

185. Sohal, R. S., H.-H. Ku, S. Agarwal, M. J. Frster & H. Lal.: Oxidative damage, mitochondrial oxidant

generation and antioxidant defenses during aging and in response to food restriction in the mouse. *Mech.Ageing Dev.* 74, 121-133 (1994)

186. Boss,O, T. Hagen & B. Lowell.: Uncoupling Proteins 2 and 3: Potential Regulators of Mitochondrial Energy Metabolism. *Diabetes* 49, 143-156 (2000)

187. Nakahara H, Kanno T, Inai I, Utsumi K, Hiramatsu M, Mori A & Packer L.: Mitochondrial dysfunction in the senescence accelerated mouse. *Free Radic.Biol.Med.* 24, 85-92 (1998)

188. Llesuy S, Evelson P, González-Flecha B, Peralta J, Carreras MC, Poderoso JJ & A. Boveris.: Oxidative stress in muscle and liver of rats with septic syndrome. *Free Radic.Biol.Med.* 16, 445-451 (1994)

189. Szilard L.: On the nature of the aging process. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A* 45, 30-45 (1959)

190. Orgel L.: The maintenance of accuracy of protein synthesis and its relevance to aging. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A* 49, 519-525 (1963)

191. Ames BN, Shigenaga MK & Hagen TM.: Oxidants, antioxidants, and the degenerative diseases of aging. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A* 90, 7915-7922 (1993)

192. Park JW & Ames BN.: Methylguanine adducts in DNA are normally present a high levels an increase on aging: analysis by HPLC with electrochemical detection. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A* 85, 7467-7470 (1988)

193. Miquel J & Fleming J: Theoretical and experimental support for and "oxygen radical injury" hypothesis of cell aging. In: Free Radicals, Aging and Degenerative Diseases vol 8. Eds: Johnson JE, Waldorf R, Harman D, Miquel J, Alan R Liss, New York (1986)

194. Sohal RS.: The free radical hypothesis of aging. An appraisal of the current status. *Aging Clin Exp Res* 5, 3-17 (1993)

195. Linnane AW, Marzuki S, Ozawa T & Tanaka M.: Mitochondrial DNA mutations as an important contributor to ageing and degenerative diseases. *Lancet* i, 642-645 (1989)

196. Wei I.: Oxidative stress and mitochondrial DNA mutations in human aging (44205). *Proc Soc.Exp.Biol.Med.* 217, 53-63 (1998)

197. Ozawa T.: Mitochondrial genome mutation in cell death and aging. *J.Bioenerg.Biomembr.* 31, 377 -390 (1999)

198. Halliwell, B. & J. Gutteridge.: Free radicals, lipid peroxidation, and cell damage [letter]. *Lancet* 2, 1095-(1984)

199. Davies, K.: Free radicals and protein degradation in human red blood cells. *Prog.Clin.Biol.Res.* 195, 15-27 (1985)

200. Halliwell, B.: Free radicals, proteins and DNA: oxidative damage versus redox regulation. *Biochem.Soc.Trans.* 24, 1023-1027 (1996)

201. Barja, G.: Mitochondrial Oxygen Radical Generation and Leak: Sites of Production in States 4 and 3, Organ Specificity, and Relation to Aging and Longevity1.[Review]. *Journal of Bioenergetics & Biomembranes* 31, 347-366 (1999)

202. Barja, G., S. Cadenas, C. Rojas, M. Lopez-Torres & R. Perez-Campo.: A decrease of free radical production near critical targets as a cause of maximum longevity in animals. *Comp Biochem Physiol Biochem Mol Biol* 108, 501-512 (1994)

203. Barja, G. & A. Herrero.: Localization at complex I and mechanism of the higher free radical production of brain nonsynaptic mitochondria in the short-lived rat than in the longevous pigeon. *J Bioenerg.Biomembr.* 30, 235-243 (1998)

204. Gutmann E: Muscle. In: Handbook of the Biology of Aging. Finch CE, Eds: Hayflick L , Van Nostrand Reinhold , New York (1977)

205. Starnes, J. W., G Cantu, R. P. Farrar & JP Kehrer: Skeletal muscle lipid peroxidation in exercised and food-restricted rats during aging. *J.Appl.Physiol* 67, 69-75 (1989)

206. Pansarasa, O., L. Bertorelli, J. Vecchiet, G. Felzani & F. Marzatico: Age-dependent changes of antioxidant activities and markers of free radical damage in human skeletal muscle. *Free Radic.Biol.Med.* 27, 617-622 (1999)

207. Faist, V., J. Koenig, H. Hoeger & I. Elmadfa.: Mitochondrial oxygen consumption, lipid peroxidation and antioxidant enzyme systems in skeletal muscle of senile dystrophic mice . *Pflugers Arch.* 437, 168-171 (1998)

208. Navarro-Arevalo, A. & M. J. Sanchez-del-Pino.: Age and exercise-related changes in lipid peroxidation and superoxide dismutase activity in liver and soleus muscle tissues of rats. *Mech.Ageing Dev.* 104, 91-102 (1998)

209. Navarro-Arevalo, A., C. Canavate & M. J. Sanchez-del-Pino.: Myocardial and skeletal muscle aging and changes in oxidative stress in relationship to rigorous exercise training. *Mech.Ageing Dev.* 108, 207-217 (1999)

210. Leeuwenburgh, C., R. Fiebig, Chandwaney R & Ji LL.: Aging and exercise training in skeletal muscle: responses of glutathione and antioxidant enzymes systems. *Am.J.Physiol* 267, R439-R445 (1994)

211. Bejma, J. & L. L. Ji.: Aging and acute exercise enhance free radical generation in rat skeletal muscle. *J Appl Physiol* 87, 465-470 (1999) 212. Ji LL, Dijon D & Woo E.: Alteration of antioxidant enzymes with aging in rat skeletal muscle and liver. *Am.J.Physiol* 258, R918-R923 (1990)

213. Cooper JM, M. V. S. AH.: Analyses of mitochondrial respiratory chain function and mitochondrial DNA deletion in human skeletal muscle: Effect of ageing. *J Neurol Sci* 113, 91-98 (1992)

214. Lezza AMS, B. D. S. S. C. P. G. MN.: Correlation between mitochondrial DNA 4977-bp deletion and respiratory chain enzyme activities in aging human skeletal muscles. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 205, 772-779 (1994)

215. Desai, V. G., R. Weindruch, R. W. Hart & R. J. Feuers.: Influences of age and dietary restriction on gastrocnemius electron transport system activities in mice. *Arch.Biochem.Biophys.* 333, 145-151 (1996)

216. Lee CM, Chung SS, Kaczkowski JM, Weindruch R & Aiken J.M.: Multiple mitochondrial DNA deletions associated with age in skeletalmuscle of rhesus monkey. *J Gerontol Biol Sci* 48, B201-B205 (1993)

217. Chung SS, Weindruch R, S. R. Schwarze, McKenzie DI & Alken JM.: Multiple-age associated mitochondrial DNA deletions in skeletal muscle of mice. *Aging* 6, 193-200 (1994)

218. Packer, M. A., C. M. Porteous & M. P. Murphy.: Superoxide production by mitochondria in the presence of nitric oxide forms peroxynitrite. *Biochem.Mol.Biol.Int.* 40, 527-534 (1996)

219. Beckman, J., T. Beckman, J. Chen, A. Marshal & B. Freeman.: Apparent hydroxyl radical production by peroxynitric: Implications for endothelial injury from nitric oxide and superoxide. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A* 87, 1620-1624 (1990)

220. Poderoso, J. J., M. C. Carreras, F. Schopfer, C. L. Lisdero, N. A. Riobo, C. Giulivi, A. D. Boveris, A. Boveris & E. Cadenas.: The reaction of nitric oxide with ubiquinol: kinetic properties and biological significance. *Free Radic Biol Med* 26, 925-935 (1999)

221. Poderoso, J. J., C. Lisdero, F. Schopfer, N. Riobo, M. C. Carreras, E. Cadenas & A. Boveris.: The regulation of mitochondrial oxygen uptake by redox reactions involving nitric oxide and ubiquinol. *J Biol Chem.* 274, 37709-37716 (1999)

222. Poderoso, J. J., J. G. Peralta, C. L. Lisdero, M. C. Carreras, M. Radisic, F. Schopfer, E. Cadenas & A. Boveris.: Nitric oxide regulates oxygen uptake and hydrogen peroxide release by the isolated beating rat heart. *Am J Physiol* 274, C112-C119 (1998)

223. Giulivi, C., J. J. Poderoso & A. Boveris.: Production of nitric oxide by mitochondria. *J Biol Chem.* 273, 11038-11043 (1998) 224. Beckman, J. & W. Koppenol.: Nitric oxide, superoxide and peroxynitrite: the good, the bad, and the ugly. *Am J Physiol* 271, C1424-1437 (1996)

225. Tuncay, D., C. Iclal & K. Ilker.: Peroxynitrite: A putative cytotoxin. *Pharmacol Toxicol* 82, 113-117 (1998)

226. Lincoln, J. & R. Harb.: Postnatal development of nitric oxide synthase activity in fast and slow muscles of the rat. *Muscle Nerve* 21, 1344-1346 (1998)

227. Chang, W. J., S. T. Iannaccone, K. S. Lau, B. S. Masters, T. J. McCabe, K. McMillan, R. C. Padre, M. J. Spencer, J. G. Tidball & J. T. Stull.: Neuronal nitric oxide synthase and dystrophin-deficient muscular dystrophy. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A* 93, 9142-9147 (1996)

228. Tidball, J. G., E. Lavergne, K. S. Lau, M. J. Spencer, J. T. Stull & M. Wehling.: Mechanical loading regulates NOS expression and activity in developing and adult skeletal muscle. *Am.J.Physiol* 275, C260-C266 (1998)

229. Richmonds, C. R., K. Boonyapisit, L. L. Kusner & H. J. Kaminski.: Nitric oxide synthase in aging rat skeletal muscle. *Mech.Ageing Dev.* 109, 177-189 (1999)

230. Tatoyan, A. & C. Giulivi.: Purification and characterization of a nitric-oxide synthase from rat liver mitochondria. *J.Biol.Chem* 273, 11044-11048 (1998)

231. Varin, R., P. Mulder, V. Richard, F. Tamion, C. Devaux, J. P. Henry, F. Lallemand, G. Lerebours & C. Thuillez.: Exercise improves flow-mediated vasodilatation of skeletal muscle arteries in rats with chronic heart failure. Role of nitric oxide, prostanoids, and oxidant stress. *Circulation* 99, 2951-2957 (1999)

232. Richmonds, C. & H. Kaminski.: Nitric oxide myotoxicity is age related. *Mech.Ageing Dev.* 113, 183-191 (2000)

233. Kemnitz, J. W., E. B. Roecker, R. Weindruch, D. F. Elson, S. T. Baum & R. N. Bergman.: Dietary restriction increases insulin sensitivity and lowers blood glucose in rhesus monkeys. *Am.J. Physiol* 266, E540-E547 (1994)

234. Lane, M. A., D. J. Baer & W. V. e. al. Rumpler.: Calorie restriction lowers body temperature in rhesus monkeys, consistent with a postulated anti-aging mechanism in rodents. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A* 93, 4159-4164 (1996)

235. Rubner, M.: Das problem der lebensdauer und seine beziehungen zu wachstum und ernahrung. Oldenbourg, Munich, Germany (1908)

236. Pearl, R.: The rate of living: being an account of some experimental studies on the biology of life duration. Alfred A Knopf, New York (1928)

237. Sohal,RS & W C Orr: Is oxidative stress a causal factor in aging? In: Molecular aspect of the aging. Eds: Esser, K, Martin, G M, John Wiley, Chichester, England (1995)

238. Sohal, R. S. & R. Weindruch.: Oxidative stress, caloric restriction, and aging. *Science* 273, 59-63 (1996)

239. Sohal, R. S., S. Agarwal, M. Candas, M. J. Forster & H. Lal.: Effect of age and caloric restriction on DNA oxidative damage in different tissues of C57BL/6 mice. *Mech.Ageing Dev.* 76, 215-224 (1994)

240. Powers, S. K., L. L. Ji & C. Leeuwenburgh.: Exercise training-induced alterations in skeletal muscle antioxidant capacity: a brief review. *Med.Sci.Sports Exerc.* 31, 987-997 (1999)

241. Lawson, D. L., L. Chen & J. L. Mehta.: Effects of exercise-induced oxidative stress on nitric oxide release and antioxidant activity. *Am.J.Cardiol.* 80, 1640-1642 (1997)

242. Dekkers, J. C., L. J. van Doornen & H. C. Kemper.: The role of antioxidant vitamins and enzymes in the prevention of exercise-induced muscle damage. *Sports Med.* 21, 213-238 (1996)

243. Ji LL & Fu R.: Responses of glutathione system and antioxidant enzymes to exhaustive exercise and hydroperoxide. *J.Appl.Physiol* 72, 549-554 (1992)

244. Davies KJ, Quantanilla AT, G. A. Brooks & Packer L.: Free radicals and tissue damage produced by exercise. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 107, 1198-1205 (1982)

245. Kobzik L, Reid M, D. S. Bredt & Stamler J.: Nitric oxide in skeletal muscles. *Nature* 372, 546-548 (1994)

246. Reid M, Shoji T, Moody M & Entman M.: Reactive oxygen in skeletal muscle: II. Extracellular release of radicals. *J.Appl.Physiol* 73, 1805-1809 (1992)

247. Alessio HM.: Exercise-induced oxidative stress. *Med.Sci.Sports Exerc.* 25, 218-224 (1993)

248. Fielding, R. A. & M. Meydani.: Exercise, free radical generation, and aging. *Aging (Milano.)* 9, 12-18 (1997)

249. Reznick, AZ, Witt EH, Silbermann M, & Packer L: The threshold of age in exercise and antioxidants action. In: Free Radicals and Aging. Eds: Emerit I, Chance B, Bierkhauser Berlag, Basel Switzerland (1992)

Key Words: Skeletal muscle. Aging. Senescence. Mitochondria. Free Radicals, Review

Send correspondence to: Professor Dra. Ana Navarro, Departamento de Bioquímica y Biología Molecular. Facultad de Medicina, Universidad de Cádiz, Plaza nº 9, 11003-Cádiz, Spain, Tel: +34-956015244, Fax: +34-956015230, E-mail: ana.navarro@uca.es